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FIRST AMENDED CLASS ACTION COMPLAINT 

AND REQUEST FOR INJUNCTIVE RELIEF

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT
1.  This action seeks preliminary and permanent injunctive relief and damages against the defendants, the Lynn Community Development Housing Corporation and the Investors Group, to prevent any further efforts to remove or displace residents of six Single Room Occupancy Rooming houses in the city of Lynn. The buildings at issue represent nearly thirty percent of all available SRO style housing within the city of Lynn. The Defendant Lynn Community Development Housing Corporation purchased the six properties at foreclosure auctions after accepting assignment of the mortgages for the six properties from the Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation. Since purchasing the properties the Defendants have aggressively sought to remove tenants from the properties with the intention of closing them and/or demolishing them. The Defendants have used illegal means to attempt to empty the properties and have done so to drive the types of tenants housed in the properties, disproportionately handicapped individuals and racial minorities, out of the city and to avoid their legal obligations to provide relocation assistance to current tenants of the properties. The Defendants’ actions violate both federal and state fair housing laws and their obligations under state and federal laws relating to relocation assistance. The Defendant Lynn Community Development Housing Corporation’s (hereinafter “LCHDC”) intention to demolish the housing without adequate alternative or replacement housing violates its obligations under federal and state fair housing law. The action is brought on behalf of all individuals who resided in any of the subject properties on or after the date the Defendants took possession of the properties and began managing them.  


JURISDICTION
2.  The Court has jurisdiction over the claims set out herein pursuant to M.G.L. Ch. 185C §§2 and 3.


PLAINTIFFS
3.  Plaintiff Innocent Noundja is an African-American adult male who resides in one of the single room occupancy units purchased by defendant LCHDC and managed by defendant Investors Group at 69 Union Street in the city of Lynn. The defendants are currently seeking to evict him from his unit.

4.  Plaintiff Donna Petherick is an adult woman who is handicapped as a result of muscular dystrophy. She lives in a single room occupancy unit at 50 Andrews Street, Lynn, Massachusetts, one of the properties acquired by the Defendants. She has lived in the building since June of 1995.  She is currently subject to an eviction action brought by the Defendants.

5.  Plaintiff Kathy Hilton is an adult Native American female who resides in a single room occupancy unit at 52 Friend Street in the city of Lynn, one of the units purchased and managed by the defendants. She is disabled, suffering from seizure disorders and a spinal condition. The defendants are seeking to evict her from her unit. 

7.  Plaintiff Jesse Collins is an African-American male who resides in a unit owned and managed by the defendants at 33 Forest Street, Lynn, Massachusetts. He has lived in the unit for more than six years. He is currently subject to eviction by the defendants.

8.  Plaintiff Shirley Bernard is an adult Native American of Micmac ancestry who resides in a unit at 33 High Street in the city of Lynn. The unit is owned and managed by the defendants. Ms. Bernard, as a result of her dark complexion, is often mistaken for an African-American or hispanic. She has lived in her unit for more than two years and is currently subject to eviction by the defendants.

9.  Mary Eaton is an adult African-American woman who resides in unit 111 at 33 High Street in the city of Lynn, one of the buildings owned and managed by the defendants. She is currently subject to eviction by the defendants.


DEFENDANTS
10.  The Lynn Community Development Housing Corporation is a non-profit corporation incorporated in the state of Massachusetts. Its officers, directors and employees are largely members of the staff of the Lynn office of Community Development. Its principal place of business is listed as the Lynn Community Development Office. It acts as a surrogate of the city of Lynn in implementing urban renewal and housing development activities within the city.

11.  Defendant Investors Group is a real estate management company hired by the Lynn Community Development Housing Corporation to manage the subject properties. Its business with respect to management of these properties is conducted from its office at 53 Mason Street, Salem, Massachusetts.

12.  Defendant Scott Clarke is the principal employee of the Investors Group involved in the management of the six properties for the city of Lynn and the LCHDC. In that capacity he has purported to issue the notices to quit and summary process summons and complaints issued to the plaintiffs, has been responsible for other actions taken by the defendants to encourage individuals to leave the properties and is responsible for the day to day management and supervision of the onsite managers at the properties and for the correction of conditions of disrepair in the properties. His principal place of business is 53 Mason Street, Salem, Massachusetts.

13.  Alden Drake is the Director of the Lynn Community Housing Development Corporation and also the Associate Director of the Lynn Office of Community Development. He is the individual who conducted the negotiations leading up to the assignment of the mortgage for the subject properties, is the individual who purchased the properties at auction and is the individual who directs the activities of the Investors Group with respect to their management of the properties. His principal place of business is City Hall, Lynn, Massachusetts.  

CLASS ALLEGATIONS
14.  Pursuant to Mass. Rules of Civil Procedure Rule 23 this action is brought by the plaintiffs on behalf of a class of similarly situated individuals, specifically any and all individuals who resided in any of the subject properties at any time since the date on which the Defendant LCHDC first took possession of the properties. This action is also maintained by Plaintiffs Noundja, Bernard, Hinton, Johnson, Collins and Eaton on behalf of a subclass of minority occupants of the subject properties and by plaintiffs Hinton and Petherick on behalf of a subclass of handicapped occupants of the subject properties. 

15.  The class and subclasses are so numerous that joinder is impracticable in that the buildings contain more than 240 SRO units, the majority of which have been occupied by at least one individual during the relevant period. In addition, the identity of all class members is uniquely within the knowledge of the defendants making joinder impossible for the plaintiffs.

16.  The claims of the representative class members are typical of the claims of the class as a whole in that each resident of the subject properties has experienced similar efforts to persuade them to leave the properties and is subject to the same inducements and pressures. Each is aware through extensive media attention of the city's intention to demolish some or all of the subject properties and to thereby significantly restrict the supply of single room occupancy housing available in the city and each is an individual who needs access to housing of this sort. 

17.  The representative parties will fairly and adequately represent the interests of the class and subclasses as a whole in that they are highly motivated to preserve their and the class members’ access to this housing and to ensure that each member of the class is afforded adequate protections as the Defendants continue their management of the properties. In addition, the class is represented by counsel both skilled and knowledgeable in the issues presented in the litigation and experienced in complex litigation.

18.  Questions of law and fact common to the class and subclasses predominate in this matter, particularly questions relating to the rights of tenants under federal and state relocation assistance laws when a publicly assisted entity assumes control of properties for purposes of their demolition and questions relating to the impact of their decision to limit access to these units, close them and arrange for their demolition on the Defendants' duty to affirmatively further fair housing. 

19.  The class action device is superior to other potential methods for the adjudication of these claims because the alternative, repetitious and time consuming litigation of these same issues in the context of hundreds of individual eviction actions and affirmative actions would unduly and unnecessarily burden the court and the parties. As the Defendants are acting under a unified plan relating to future use plans for each of the buildings, a single focused judicial review of the entire plan and its legality will bring a level of clarity and certainty that tenants in the buildings desperately need to make plans and decisions concerning their own futures. Tenants, receiving confusing and conflicting information, are in danger of making unfortunate decisions based on incomplete and inaccurate information.


FACTS
20.  The six buildings involved in this litigation are located at 52 Friend Street, 69 Union Street, 33 High Street, 33 Forest Street, 50 Andrews Street and 189 Oxford Street all within the city of Lynn, Massachusetts.

21.  The buildings were all previously owned by  Leo Allard, a notorious landlord in the city of Lynn with a longstanding history of code violations, police intervention and other problems.

22.  The properties were mortgaged by Mr. Allard, acting through a series of realty trusts, to a bank or banks which were placed in receivership by the Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation. These realty trusts defaulted on each of the mortgages.

23.   In the fall of 1996, the City of Lynn Department of Community Development and the Lynn Community Development Housing Corporation completed negotiations with the FDIC and the City paid the FDIC $151,834.00 for the assignment of the mortgages for all the subject properties to the LCDHC for purposes of conducting foreclosure auctions and disposing of the properties, with the source of funds being the federal Community Development Block Grant Program.
24.  At the time of this transaction it was widely reported in the local media that the LCHDC and the city intended to gain title to the properties for the express purpose of closing and demolishing the buildings. 

25.   As a result of the wide spread reporting of this information tenants in the buildings came to believe and understand that if the Corporation took title to the properties they would lose their housing and would have to leave.

26.   Shortly after acquiring the mortgages to the properties, the Corporation took possession by right of entry for default of the mortgages. 

27.   The Corporation hired Defendant Scott Clarke, d/b/a The Investors Group to manage the subject properties after first hiring and then firing another organization, The Finch Group. 

28.   On or about November 18, 1996 the Corporation held foreclosure auctions for all the subject properties.

29.   The Corporation purchased each of the properties at these auction sales. 

30.   In several cases the Corporation bid against active bidders who were offering both to the purchase and maintain the properties and to assume responsibility for large sums of past due taxes on the properties.

31.   On information and belief, the funds used to purchase the properties at auction, to provide whatever consideration was provided to the FDIC to gain assignment of the mortgages, to hire the Investors Group to manage the properties and to support the salaries of individuals involved in this effort were public funds, from the federal Community Development Block Grant and HOME Investment Partnerships Programs, provided to the LCHDC by the city of Lynn’s Office of Community Development.

32.   On information and belief, some portion of the funding provided was federal assistance from the Department of Housing And Urban Development.

33.   Before acquiring the assignment of mortgages from the FDIC, the City of Lynn Department of Community Development wrote a reuse plan and memorandum to the Mayor of Lynn which set forth a plan for the Lynn SRO Project to use the LCDHC as an instrument to acquire the Allard SRO’s for the purpose of demolishing SRO units.
34.   Since the Corporation purchased the properties, Defendant Investors Group has taken aggressive actions to begin removing individuals from the properties. Among the actions taken are:

a.  Non-payment and for cause evictions, often brought on insufficient notice;

b.  Offers to provide individuals cash payments and/or free rent in exchange for agreements to voluntarily vacate their units;

c.  Requests that police forcibly remove individuals from some of the premises without legal process. 

d.  Issuance of notices, both orally and in writing, indicating the Corporation's intention to demolish the buildings at some indeterminate time in the future;

e.  Failure to correct egregious conditions of disrepair in the buildings;

f.  Sealing units and refusing to relet them when tenants vacate.

g.  Padlocking the rooms of occupants and refusing or failing to allow tenants access back into their rooms or providing them with replacement housing;
h.  Locking and closing common kitchen areas, thereby eliminating the residents' ability to prepare and cook meals;

i.   Locking and closing common laundry areas, thereby eliminating the residents' ability to wash their clothes and bedding;


j.  Causing representations to be made that buildings are being closed;

k.  Causing representations to be made that residents must move;

l.   Assisting in the moving of residents subjected to the representations referenced in subparagraphs "j" and "k" into Corporation accommodations that are not decent, standard, nor in compliance with the state sanitary code, nor comparable as required by state and federal relocation law.
35.  In many of these properties, prior to the acquisition by the LCHDC of the buildings, rents were routinely paid to resident managers in cash, receipts were not provided and records of transactions were not maintained.

36.  On information and belief, in one or more of the buildings, since their acquisition, the Defendants have terminated the resident manager(s) in part because of their suspicions that these practices were underway and that tenant payments were not properly recorded.

37.  Despite knowing or suspecting that transactions were previously handled by these means, the Defendants have sought to evict or lock-out, or had the police remove, individuals because there were no existing records regarding their tenancies at that time the defendants took possession of the buildings..

38.  There are serious conditions of disrepair in each of the buildings.

39.  Prior to taking possession of the properties, a study was commissioned and undertaken by Ron Dupuis of the Lynn Housing Authority concerning the condition of rooming houses within the city of Lynn.

40.  As part of the study Mr. Dupuis inspected or had others inspect the buildings involved in the lawsuit and reviewed code enforcement materials relating to the buildings. 

41.  Mr. Dupuis then rated the building according to a scale ranging from A to D with properties coded as D being those with common areas in poor condition, exterior conditions poor with excess trash and lack of maintenance services, with bathroom facilities in poor condition in need of substantial maintenance and repairs, with major systems in poor condition, units in need of significant repair, and roach and mice infestations. 

42.  The subject properties at 69 Union Street, 52 Friend Street, 189 Oxford Street and 33 Forest Street were each coded D in the report. 

43.  The remaining properties at 50 Andrews Street and 33 High Street were each coded C representing that they were in average condition with some conditions out of compliance with applicable building and sanitary code requirements. 

44.  Despite having been involved in commissioning this study and having knowledge that these conditions existed in the properties the Defendants have moved aggressively to seek evictions for non-payment of rent without offering any abatement or allowance as a result of the existence of these conditions and without devoting any substantial resources to ameliorating the conditions listed in the report. The defendants have failed to take any appropriate action to remedy the conditions of disrepair and sanitary code violations in the subject properties.

45.  The conditions in the buildings are such that tenants in the buildings would be entitled to withhold rent under Massachusetts law and the defendants knew or should have known of the existence of such conditions at the time they instituted eviction actions against residents of the buildings.

46.  Prior to the Defendants taking possession of the properties, a group of local activists and human services providers surveyed the occupants of many of the subject buildings. Their survey found that of the individuals available to be interviewed, nearly half were minorities and more than half suffered from a handicap.

47.  These percentages are significantly higher that the population of the community as a whole and indicate that this housing represents housing of last resort for a disproportionate number of the minority and handicapped individuals in the city of Lynn. 

48.  There is a long history of animus in the city toward members of these two protected groups and the decisions to remove these housing options and demolish these structures were made with a full awareness of their impact on members of these protected classes.

49.  Neither the Corporation nor the city of Lynn has made any effort to ensure that there are sufficient alternative standard accommodations within the city of Lynn to house the individuals intended to be displaced from these structures.

50.  Rather, the Corporation and the city have information that demonstrates conclusively that there are not sufficient available standard accommodations for these individuals.

51.  Another component of the study undertaken by Mr. Dupuis was a review of occupancy patterns for rooming housing within the city. The study found that within all the rooming houses within the city coded as A or B, and thereby signifying that the properties identified were of standard condition, free of significant code problems or defects, a total of 52 vacancies existed at the time of the study.

52.  More than 210 individuals have lived in the structures at issue in this lawsuit since the defendants assumed control of the buildings and the buildings hold more than 240 units of housing. 

53.  Thus, the information developed by the study commissioned indicates conclusively that there are NOT sufficient alternative housing accommodations available to this population within the city of Lynn.

54.  Despite having full knowledge of this situation, the City and the Corporation have no plans or intention to provide replacement housing for individuals displaced through their acquisition and management of these structures and have begun aggressive removal of tenants from the properties without any effort to provide adequate replacement housing.

55.  The Defendants have knowingly used illegal means to bring evictions against tenants in these buildings and have filed more than 60 eviction actions in the last several weeks against tenants in the properties. 

56.  In some cases the Defendants have used seven days notices to purport to terminate tenancies for long term residents.

57.  In other cases the defendants have called upon the police to threaten and intimidate tenants into leaving the properties without judicial process or review.

58.  In most if not all cases the Defendants have instituted eviction proceedings through complaints signed by a constable on behalf of the management company without visible benefit of legal counsel and in violation of applicable law. 

59.  The defendants have failed to issue timely notices of eligibility for relocation assistance or notices of nondisplacement, and instead the defendants have issued purported general relocation notices to some of the tenants which fail to notify tenants that they cannot be displaced without a safe, decent and affordable comparable replacement dwelling being made available and without providing any information about the level of monetary and other assistance available to tenants who remain in the properties, and the defendants’ notices intimate that the properties will be demolished without providing information about the level of assistance that must be provided to affected tenants as the result of such demolition. 
60.  These notices are designed to scare tenants into leaving the properties prematurely and thereby lose their eligibility for relocation and other assistance in the event the properties are closed and demolished.

61.  In at least one building, 33 High Street, on information and belief, the defendants have intentionally turned off the heat for two days to punish tenants for failure to pay rent and to encourage tenants to leave.

62.  The intention and effect of all these actions is to create a climate of fear and uncertainty among the existing tenants in order to encourage them to flee from the properties.


FACTUAL ALLEGATIONS RELATING TO INDIVIDUAL


NAMED PLAINTIFFS

63.  Plaintiff Shirley Bernard is a Native American woman who resides in unit 203 at 33 High Street.  She is frequently mistaken for African-American or hispanic because of her skin tone. 

64.  She has lived in her unit for more than two years.

65.  She was served with a notice to quit instructing her to leave in seven days.

66.  She received two offers to leave the premises. The first was an offer of $100 contingent on her vacating the premises the day the offer was made. 

67.  Later, when she made a payment to the defendant of $120 for rent she was again encouraged to vacate the premises and told that if she vacated on that day she would receive a payment of $100 and have her own payment refunded. She refused both offers.

68.  While Ms. Bernard was visiting friends at the 52 Friend Street she overheard a  conversation between Mr. Clarke and the resident property manager, since fired, Jonna Maisonet. Mr. Clarke told Ms. Maisonet that he was unhappy about some of the tenants refusing to pay rent. He said that he had ways of dealing with that and that he would turn off the heat if more rent payments were not forthcoming. Ms. Bernard understood his purpose to be to have Ms. Maisonet communicate this threat to the tenants in the building. He told Ms. Maisonet that he had done this in one of the other buildings. 

69.  A week earlier, the heat had been turned off for two days in Ms. Bernard’s building at 33 High Street.

70.  Kathy Hinton is a Native American woman who resides in unit 11 at 52 Friend Street. She is also disabled and receives SSI assistance for a seizure disorder and spinal condition. 

71.  She has received a notice to quit for non-payment of rent. 

72.  She has serious conditions of disrepair in her unit including holes in the living room wall and a hole in the closet wall that makes her unit visible to the occupants of the adjoining one and vice versa. She also reports that common area problems are common throughout the structure including serious mice and roach infestations, faulty windows, inadequate heat and hot water, defective plumbing and defective bathroom floors and ceilings.

73.  Scott Clarke, the property manager for Investor's Group came to her apartment on Saturday, November 23, 1996. When he opened the door he saw that Ms. Hinton displayed a tribal flag on her wall. He remarked upon seeing the flag that she had no business in a rooming house and that she should go back to the reservation.

74.  Donna Petherick is an adult woman who resides at 50 Andrews Street in unit 309.  Ms Petherick is a handicapped individuals who suffers from muscular dystrophy which limits her mobility. Her income is supplemental security income payments for her disability. She has lived in the unit since June of 1995. 

75.  There are significant conditions of disrepair in her unit and in the building including but not limited to inoperable radiators in the bathrooms and common hallways, collapsing floors on the third floor which exacerbate her mobility limitations, rain leaks into the unit from a defective roof, very serious roach and rodent infestations, and inadequate heat, including two days when the heat was shut off by management. 

76.  Ms. Petherick has lived in the building for more than a year and wants to continue residing in the building. Her income is such that she needs access to housing of this character with lower than normal rents. Management recently posted the building to deny access to any visitors and instructed tenants that no visitors would be allowed under any circumstances. 

77.  In August Ms. Petherick paid her rent to the resident manager employed by the  prior owner in cash and did not receive a receipt. Two days later the resident manager disappeared with the payment made by her and by several other tenants. The current owners are aware of this situation but continue to charge the victimized tenants for the rent stolen by the resident manager.

78.  Innocent Noundja resides in a unit at 69 Union Street, Lynn, Ma.  He moved into the building in August of this year. He is an African-American.

79.  Mr. Noundja is a recent immigrant from Cameroon where he was a French scholar. He lives in the building because the rent is inexpensive and he currently volunteers as a tutor in French and mathematics at North Shore Community College. Through this experience he hopes to establish his credentials to teach in the United States. Because of the time he devotes to this activity he is able to work only part time at paid employment and must live in inexpensive housing to be able to make time available for his tutoring activity so that he can establish himself professionally here.

80.  There are significant conditions of disrepair at 69 Union Street. The conditions in the building are very bad. There is a very serious problem with cockroaches and rodent infestation. The heat in the building works only intermittently and the heat is inadequate. Mr. Noundja and most other tenants in the building have been forced to purchase electric space heaters to maintain appropriate temperatures in their units. The bathrooms are very dirty and the plumbing doesn’t work right. There are huge accumulations of trash throughout the building and it has not been picked up for several weeks. Plaster is cracked throughout the building and rain water leaks into the third floor bathroom and apartments. Before the defendants took over there was nighttime security in the building.  Now there is none.   

81.  Mr. Noundja was offered a $100 payment by Scott Clarke. When he offered the payment Mr. Clarke told Mr. Noundja that if he didn’t take the payment he would get him out anyway, one way or the other.

82.  Jesse Collins is an African-American male who resides in unit 1 at 33 Forest Street in the city of Lynn, one of the properties owned and managed by the defendants. 

83.  He has lived in the unit for more than seven years. 

84.  He is a single parent caring part time for a four year old son and working to support them both.

85.  He has spent considerable time and money over seven years improving his unit so that it is safe and comfortable for his family. Given what he has invested in the unit he does not want to leave it. 

86.  Outside of his unit there are serious code problems in the common areas of the building including insect and rodent infestation and plumbing problems in the common baths.  

87.  Mr Collins has been served with an eviction for non-payment of rent though he believes he is current in his rent. There have been numerous changes in management in the property and Mr. Collins believes there have never been adequate records maintained of rental payments made by tenants in the property. He has tried on several occasions since receiving a notice to quit to discuss his situation with Mr. Clarke to resolve the dispute concerning his rental payments but Mr. Clarke has refused to discuss the matter with him and has simply told him to get out.

88.  Mary Eaton is an African-American woman who resides in unit 111 at 33 High Street. Lynn, Massachusetts, one of the buildings owned and managed by the defendants. 

89.  Ms. Eaton is five months pregnant.

90.  She recently learned that she was eligible for AFDC and Emergency Assistance from the Department of Public Welfare and shortly after receiving a notice to quit from Mr. Clarke she applied for emergency assistance to pay any rent arrears due. Mr. Clarke refused to provide any assistance or to sign any paperwork and refused to accept emergency assistance to pay the rent arrears. He also refused to complete verifications that Ms. Eaton needed to establish that she occupied a unit in the dwelling in order to receive medicaid. As a result of his refusal she has been unable to receive the assistance which she needs to receive prenatal care..

91.  Mr. Clarke made an offer of $100 to Ms. Eaton to vacate the building, telling her that as soon as her things were packed up and out of the unit he would pay her the money in cash. He later increased the offer to two hundred dollars. 

92.  Since Ms. Eaton refused both offers he has called several times to encourage her to take it and has had the resident manager also insist that she take the offer and move. 

93.  Mr Clarke has told her that she must move because she is pregnant and has said that pregnant people and people with children are not allowed to live in the building. 


IRREPARABLE HARM
94.  Without adequate alternative or replacement housing, the current tenants will leave and are leaving the buildings in fear without other available housing or accommodation, being rendered homeless and placed at great risk to their health and safety. 

95.  The nature of this housing is housing of last resort. Many of these individuals have very low incomes and cannot afford any other style of housing accommodation. 

96.  They will not be able to secure fixed residences or places of safe habitation.

97.  These tenants will be virtually impossible to locate later should they leave the premises and will lose their right to relocation and other assistance that should be available to them under the circumstances. 

98.  Unless the Defendants are immediately enjoined from continuing their efforts to intimidate tenants to leave the properties, the class members will become homeless, with lose their ability to secure needed assistance and, given the large number of handicapped and frail individuals residing in these structures, some may well die as the winter months approach and they are unable to secure alternative housing accommodations.

99.  There are many other individuals within the city of Lynn who need housing accommodations of this sort.

100.  The defendant's are not reletting units to new tenants when previous tenants vacate.

101.  As a result, the available SRO housing stock in the city of Lynn has been dramatically reduced and individuals in need of this housing, disproportionately minorities and handicapped individuals, are unable to locate suitable affordable housing and are facing continued homelessness and, in light of the season and weather conditions, serious health emergencies and life threatening conditions should they be unable to secure available SRO housing units.

SUPPLEMENTAL FACTS 
SUBSEQUENT TO THE FILING OF THE COMPLAINT 

S1.    The defendants locked and closed the common kitchen in the Union Street SRO and later removed the stoves and ovens, thereby preventing the residents from cooking meals, giving the appearance that the building was closing and encouraging residents to move.
S2.    The defendants used newly vacated rooms at 52 Friend Street in December of 1996 and January of 1997 to move tenants from the City-owned  SRO located at 18 Joyce Street which was managed by Scott Clarke.

S3.    In mid-January 1997, LCDHC issued a confusing “supplemental general notice of potential displacement” with attachments which described URA relocation assistance and provided some references to the triggers for and benefits of relocation assistance under Section 104(d) of the Housing and Community Development Act of 1974, as amended. 

S4.   In April 1997, LCDHC issued notices of non-displacement to the remaining residents of 50 Andrew Street and 52 Friend Street. 
S5.   Upon information and belief, no such notices of non-displacement were issued to residents of 33 High Street.

S6.  In May 1997, the Massachusetts Department of Public Health certified the Andrew Street and Friend Street SRO’s as being in compliance with the state sanitary code.

S7.   Despite the certification of code compliance in May of 1997, the defendants did not begin to rerent rooms at the Andrew and Friend Street SRO’s until the passing of many months, choosing instead to keep them vacant while individuals regularly inquired about room availability.  

S8.   In December 1997, LCDHC began the final process of closing  the SRO’s located at 189 Oxford Street and 69 Union Street by issuing to the remaining occupants 120 day notices to quit and notices of eligibility for relocation assistance which offered replacement housing at the 50 Andrew Street and 52 Friend Street locations.

S9.  On or about July 1, 1999, LCDHC began the final process of closing  the 33 Forest Street SRO by issuing to the remaining occupants 120 day notices to quit and notices of eligibility for relocation assistance which offered replacement housing at the 50 Andrew Street and 52 Friend Street SRO’s.  

S10.  In November 1999, LCDHC sold the Friend Street SRO to Affordable Housing Associates of Lynn, a non-profit entity which the Lynn Housing Authority describes as one of its non-profit “partners.”  

S11.  In December 1999, the unrepaired High Street SRO and its 44 dwelling units were sold to HM Realty Trust.

S12.   The Union Street SRO was demolished in April of 2000.

S13.   In December 2000, LCDHC sold the Oxford Street SRO to Shore.Net Properties LLC.  

S14.   The 33 Forest Street SRO was demolished in November 2002. 

S15.   In carrying out its relocation obligations, the defendant LCDHC first designated the City of Lynn Department of Community Development as its relocation agent and instructed the last remaining occupants of the Oxford and Union Street SRO’s to obtain relocation benefits from the Department.  

S16.    In 1998, LCDHC redesignated the Lynn Housing Authority as its relocation agent after the Housing Authority contracted to administer the City of Lynn’ community development housing programs. 

S17.   Since 1998, dozens of former residents of the Forest, Oxford and Union Street SRO’s applied for relocation assistance with the City of Lynn Department of Community Development and the Lynn Housing Authority.

S18.   The Department and the Housing Authority, as agents for LCDHC, denied every claim for Section 104(d) relocation assistance.

S19.   The Department and the Housing Authority have engaged in a practice of determining that only those persons who remained at the Forest, Oxford and Union Street SRO’s to the bitter end and received notices of relocation eligibility are entitled to relocation benefits, and such assistance is limited to benefits under to the URA. 

S20.  The Department and the Housing Authority denied each and every relocation claim by persons who moved as the result of: $100 cash-for-keys offers, lock-outs, notices to quit, summary process filings, misrepresentations, organized group removals, closed kitchens or unhealthy living conditions.  

S21.    In calculating replacement housing payments under the URA, the Housing Authority imposed an unlawful cap of $5,250.00.  

S22.    Since 1998, about 20 former SRO residents filed appeals of the Section 104(d) denials and the imposition of the cap on URA replacement housing payments.

S23.     The Department and the Housing Authority denied every appeal from a SRO resident.

S24.    Since 1998, about 20 former SRO residents filed requests for review with the U.S. Department of Housing and Urban Development (HUD).

S25.    HUD issued it’s first decision on March 8, 1999 denying Section 104(d) eligibility with respect to the Union Street SRO on the grounds that the building was still standing and had not been demolished.  

S26.    Subsequent to the demolition of the Union Street SRO, plaintiffs requested a redetermination by HUD.

S27.   On May 26, 2000, HUD determined that the defendants were violating the URA by the imposition of the $5,250 cap on replacement housing payments and wrote to Mayor McManus directing him to undertake actions to provide appropriate replacement housing payments without the cap. 

S28.   On March 23, 2001, James Barnes, New England Director for Community Planning and Development at HUD, wrote to legal counsel for the City, LCDHC and the Housing Authority to inform them of the following five determinations: 

a) the demolition of the Union Street SRO had triggered Section 104(d) obligations; 

b) the sale of the Oxford Street SRO to Shore.Net Properties constituted a conversion and triggered Section 104(d) obligations; 

c) the defendants were in violation of the URA by continuing to impose a cap;  

d) the occupants of the LCDHC SRO’s who moved without timely notification of their relocation rights are presumed eligible for URA or Section 104(d) assistance and payments; and 

e) the defendants and the City of Lynn were directed to work with Neighborhood Legal Services to identify affected tenants of the LCDHC SRO’s, process their claims under Section 104(d) or the URA, and render expeditious payments and services. 

S29.   The defendants have failed to provide relocation assistance and payments in accordance with HUD’s determination of March 23, 2001. 
 


CLAIMS FOR RELIEF


FIRST CLAIM FOR RELIEF


VIOLATION OF UNIFORM RELOCATION ASSISTANCE AND 

PROPERTY ACQUISITION ACT
.

102.  The property was acquired in whole or in part with federal financial assistance.

103.  The property was acquired for the purpose of taking action that will or may require the displacement of current tenants.

104.  While the tenants’ eviction actions are ostensibly the result of alleged non-payment, the defendants knew at the time these action was instituted that each of the properties involved was in a condition of substantial disrepair and was seriously substandard, yet the defendants, knowing that these conditions rendered the value of the tenancy less that the market rent and provided the tenants fair grounds to withhold their rent under Massachusetts law proceeded to seek eviction for failure to pay market rent and demanded that the tenants continue to pay the market rent or face eviction.

105.  The landlord offered many tenants a payment of $100 to vacate the premises for the specific purpose of tricking the tenant to voluntarily abandon the tenancy and render themselves ineligible for federal relocation assistance payment.

106.  The actions taken by the landlord to evict and displace the tenant violate 42 U.S.C. §4601 et seq. in that they:

a. deny appropriate relocation assistance to individuals intended to be displaced as a result of activities undertaken using federal financial assistance;

b. were undertaken without an adequate effort to identify and determine the availability of adequate alternative standard accommodations within the city of Lynn or to otherwise mitigate the adverse impacts of the activities to be undertaken;

c. result in displacement of individuals from their dwellings on account of a project undertaken with federal financial assistance without the availability of adequate replacement housing;

d. Were designed to deceive tenants into leaving the subject properties and thereby lose their ability to access relocation assistance otherwise available to them.

Plaintiffs claims under 42 U.S.C. §4601 arise under 42 U.S.C. §1983. 


SECOND CLAIM FOR RELIEF


FEDERAL FAIR HOUSING VIOLATIONS
107.  The occupants of the properties are disproportionately people of color and handicapped individuals.

108.  The individuals against whom eviction actions have been filed and to whom offers of cash to vacate the premises have been made are disproportionately and nearly exclusively people of color and handicapped individuals.

109.  The defendants acquired the property in connection with a project receiving federal financial assistance.

110.  The defendants are refusing to rent units in the buildings acquired when tenants vacate units in the buildings.

111.  The defendants are undertaking the acquisition and closure of the buildings because of the nature of the occupants of the buildings, specifically because the majority of occupants are people of color and disabled individuals.

112.  The defendants actions violate their obligations under federal fair housing laws in that they:

a. Fail to affirmatively further fair housing in violation of 42 U.S.C. § 3608;

b. Make unavailable and deny housing units to persons of color and handicapped individuals in violation of 42 U.S.C. § 3604;

Plaintiffs’ claims under federal fair housing laws arise under 42 U.S.C. §1983.


THIRD CLAIM FOR RELIEF


VIOLATION OF STATE FAIR HOUSING OBLIGATIONS
113.  The  actions of the defendants constitute a refusal to rent or lease and otherwise to deny to and withhold housing accommodations because of the race, national origin and/or handicap status of the occupants of the units in violation of M.G.L. ch. 151B §4 (6).

114.  The actions of the defendants constitute efforts to threaten, coerce and interfere with the plaintiffs’ exercise of their right to acquire and maintain housing free from discrimination in violation of M.G.L. ch. 151B §4A.


FOURTH CLAIM FOR RELIEF


VIOLATION OF STATE URBAN RENEWAL REQUIREMENTS
115.  The actions of the defendants are taken as part of an urban renewal plan for purposes of removing or redeveloping blighted or slum properties.

116.  The defendants are acting as agents of the city of Lynn in their actions to acquire and close the subject properties.

117.  The defendants have undertaken the acquisition of the subject property and the displacement of tenants therefrom without taking the necessary steps precedent to implementation of such a plan, to-wit the convening or a public hearing to consider the plan and the actions proposed to be taken and submission of the plan to the Department of Community Affairs for its approval, all in violation of M.G.L. ch. 121B.


FIFTH CLAIM FOR RELIEF 


VIOLATION OF STATE RELOCATION ASSISTANCE ACT
118.  The defendants acquired the subject property as part of an acquisition of property conducted on behalf of a public agency.

119.  The defendants are in the process of displacing persons from the properties so acquired.

120.  The Bureau of Relocation at the Department of Community Affairs has not qualified a designated relocation agency to provide assistance with relocation.

121.  The defendants nor the city of Lynn have submitted a relocation plan with respect to the project to be undertaken and no such plan has been approved by the Department of Community Affairs

122.  The defendants have failed to fully inform eligible individuals of relocation assistance available to them at the earliest possible date.

123.  The defendants have not located or made available suitable standard replacement dwelling for displaced individuals.

124.  The defendants are not operating a relocation program in a fair, just and equitable manner. 

125.  The defendants are seeking to remove tenants from the property to avoid fulfilling their relocation obligations to such tenants.

126.  All of these actions violate M.G.L. ch. 79A.   


SIXTH CLAIM FOR RELIEF


UNFAIR AND DECEPTIVE PRACTICES 
127.  The defendants have knowingly or recklessly acted illegally to evict tenants from the properties by actions including:

a. issuing notices that they knew or should have known did not properly terminate the tenancies of the individuals involved for purposes of intimidating these individuals to abandon their tenancies;

b. demanding market rent from tenants when they knew or should have known that the conditions in the properties were so seriously substandard that tenants were not liable under Massachusetts law to pay the full rent for their units;

c. Offering cash payments to tenants to voluntarily leave the premises in order to avoid their legal obligation to provide far greater assistance to these tenants under state and federal relocation laws;

d. Maintaining unsanitary and dangerous conditions in the properties and making no responsible effort to alleviate them thereby forcing additional tenants to vacate the premises;

e. Filing summary process complaints on behalf of an organization without benefit of counsel and in the name of an individual property manager for the organization who himself failed to sign or issue the complaints;

f.   padlocking occupied rooms and failing to allow tenants to reoccupy;

g.   closing common kitchen and laundry facilities and removing appliances;

h.  causing representations of imminent building closure and offering to move certain occupants to other lodging.
As a result of which the defendants are liable to the tenants for a minimum or three months rent or their actual damages, whichever are greater.


SEVENTH CLAIM FOR RELIEF


DENIAL OF CIVIL RIGHTS 
128.  The defendants actions constitute efforts to deny plaintiffs their rights under state law to lease and hold property as a result of their race, national origin and handicap in violation of the Massachusetts Civil Rights Act,  M.G.L. ch. 93 §§102-03. 


EIGHTH CLAIM FOR RELIEF


DENIAL OF RIGHTS BY THREAT, INTIMIDATION AND COERCION
129.  The defendants' actions constitute an attempt to interfere with the plaintiffs' exercise of rights secured by the Constitution and laws of the United States and the Commonwealth of Massachusetts by means of threat, coercion and intimidation in violation of M.G.L. ch. 12 §11I. 


NINTH CLAIM FOR RELIEF


DISCRIMINATION IN FEDERALLY ASSISTED PROGRAMS
130.  The defendants’ actions constitute discrimination on the basis of race, color, national origin and handicap in a federally assisted activity, in violation of 42 U.S.C. §2000d et seq. 


TENTH CLAIM FOR RELIEF


EQUAL PROTECTION
131.  The defendants’ actions violate plaintiffs’ rights to equal protection by denying housing to the plaintiffs on the basis of their race, national origin, or color in violation of the Equal Protection Clause of the Fourteenth Amendment to the United States Constitution and Article 106 of the Massachusetts Constitution.


ELEVENTH CLAIM FOR RELIEF


MASSACHUSETTS EQUAL RIGHTS AMENDMENT
132.  The defendants actions constitute a violation of their rights under Massachusetts Constitution Amendment Articles 106 and 114. 


TWELFTH CLAIM FOR RELIEF


42 U.S.C. §1982
133.  The defendants’ conduct denies plaintiff members of the minority subclass their rights to lease and hold real property on the same terms and conditions with white citizens in violation of 42 U.S.C. §1982.


THIRTEENTH CLAIM FOR RELIEF


CIVIL RIGHTS CONSPIRACY - 42 U.S.C. §1985
134.  The defendants’ act constitute the deprivation of the equal rights of plaintiffs and their rights and privileges as citizens of the United States  through a conspiracy of two or more persons in violation 42 U.S.C. §1985. 

FOURTEENTH CLAIM FOR RELIEF 

VIOLATION OF HUD'S ANTI-DISPLACEMENT AND ONE-FOR-ONE REPLACEMENT LAW - SECTION 104(D)

135.  By the provisions of 42 U.S.C. §5304(d) (hereafter Section 104(d) and 42 U.S.C. §12705(b)(15), and implementing regulations at 24 C.F.R.  §42.301 et. seq., before undertaking a project with the use of Community Development Block Grant (CDBG), HOME or UDAG funds that will result in the demolition or conversion of low or moderate income housing, a residential anti-displacement and relocation assistance plan must be developed and followed, and such plan must include:  

a.   specific steps to be taken to minimize displacement of families and individuals; 

b.   methods by which displaced persons will be provided relocation assistance, including providing such persons the option of choosing relocation assistance under the URA or the expanded relocation benefits available under Section 104(d); and 

c.  a detailed plan for one-for-one replacement of any demolished or converted lower-income dwellings, to be made public and to be submitted to the U.S. Department of Housing and Urban Development for approval prior to any activity related to demolition 


or conversion.  

136.  The defendants expended CDBG and HOME funds in connection with the acquisition and operation of the subject SRO Project which was initiated with the purpose of demolishing and converting SRO Housing and which resulted in such demolition and conversion.  

137.  The defendants failed to minimize the displacement of the SRO residents in carrying out the SRO Project.

138.  The defendants have failed to provide relocation assistance and payments to displaced occupants of the LCDHC SRO's in accordance with Section 104(d). 

139.   No replacement plan has been developed, made available to the public or submitted to HUD.  

140.  The defendants have not provided for one-for-one replacement of the SRO units that were acquired and subsequently demolished and converted..  

141.  Thus, the defendants have violated  42 U.S.C. §5304(d) and 42 U.S.C. §12705(b)(15), and implementing regulations at 24 C.F.R. §42.301 et. seq.  

142.  This claim is actionable under 42 U.S.C. §1983.

REQUESTS FOR RELIEF
WHEREFORE, Plaintiffs respectfully request that this Court:

1.   Issue a temporary restraining order enjoining the defendants and each of them from:

a. taking any further action to encourage any tenant from vacating any of the properties made the subject of this litigation, including the issuance of any notice, threat, command, suggestion or the like, whether orally or in writing,

b. proceeding to seek the eviction of any tenant from any of the subject properties or taking additional steps in furtherance of any pending eviction action without express approval of this court upon motion to the court with notice to the plaintiffs and their attorneys,

c. failing or refusing to relet units as they become vacant in any of the subject properties after performing any necessary repairs required to render the units in conformity with the state sanitary code,

d. failing or refusing to notify, in a manner and form approved by the court, all tenants in any of the subject properties of the existence of this litigation and the terms of the order issued.

2.   On an expedited basis, determine the fair market rent, given the conditions of serious disrepair in the properties, for units within the properties and order the defendants to notify the tenants of the actual rent obligation for continued occupancy in their units.

3.   Certify this matter as a class action for the class and subclasses set out herein.

4.   Issue a declaratory judgment, pursuant to M.G.L. ch. 231A that the defendants actions violate the laws set out in plaintiffs' claims for relief.

5.   Preliminarily and permanently enjoin the defendants from:

a. Issuing any notices or instructions to the tenants in any of the properties without the form and manner of distribution of the notice first having been approved by the court after notice and hearing,

b. taking any action to close or demolish the subject buildings,

c. Pursuing evictions against tenants in the subject buildings other than with the approval of the court after notice and hearing,

d. failing or refusing to relet units that become vacant in the subject buildings,

e. failing to provide adequate relocation assistance as defined in federal and state law to any tenants displaced from the subject buildings, such adequate assistance to be determined in advance by the court,

f. failing to conduct a study to determine the extent of the need for adequate standard replacement housing for tenants of the subject properties

g. Affirmatively marketing the subject properties and publicizing the availability of units in them in a manner and form to be determined by the court.

6.   In the event the defendants fail or refuse to remedy conditions of disrepair in the units or otherwise fail to abide by the terms of any order entered herein or their obligations to tenants residing in the units, then, pursuant to M.G.L. ch. 111 §127I, appoint an appropriate receiver to take possession of the properties and remedy the conditions of disrepair existing therein or, in the alternative, determine, and order payment of, the fair value of use and occupancy of the premises into the court in accordance with M.G.L. ch. 111 §127F for use in remedying the conditions of disrepair now existing in the premises.  

7.  Award plaintiffs compensatory and punitive damages against defendants on account of the defendants discriminatory treatment of the plaintiffs and denial of the plaintiffs' civil rights. 

8.  Award plaintiffs who have been displaced from any of the subject properties as a result of the defendants' action appropriate relocation and other assistance as required by state and federal law or, in the alternative, damages representing the value of relocation assistance wrongly denied to the plaintiffs,

9.   Award plaintiffs' counsel a reasonable attorneys fee pursuant to 42 U.S.C. §1988, 42 U.S.C. §3612 and M.G.L. ch. 12 §11I. 

10.   Award plaintiffs and members of the class such other, further or different relief as justice may require.
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Dated: March 22, 2004
CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE 
I hereby certify that a true copy of the above document was served upon:

1) Webb Primason, counsel for defendants Lynn Community Development Housing Corporation and Alden Drake at Bradley, Moore, Primason, Cuffe, & Weber, 85 Exchange Street, Lynn, MA 01902 by  first class mail  express mail hand delivery  on March 22, 2004;

2) Scott Clarke, 29 Brookhouse Court, Marblehead, MA 01945 by  first class mail  express mail hand delivery  on March 22, 2004.  

____________________________ 

Marc Potvin, Attorney for Plaintiffs
